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GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The two-story farmhouse of John and Amelia Brown, named "Atavista Farm" in 1958,
is believed to have been erected about 1876. Located a half mile east of Brownsville
on the south side of Highway 228, the structure is a good example of Italian Villa
architecture in a rural setting. Some of the general characteristics of this style
are an asymmetrical composition of forms,often with a vertical element such as a
belvedere, combined with the use of verandas and projecting window bays. Fenestration
may suggest arcading. Cornices are usually bracketed, and decorative woodwork--not in-
frequently mass produced--is an important feature. The extent of exterior decoration
was held to be a clue to the means of the owner.

The main block of the house has a modified cruciform plan with a single-story ell
at the southwest corner. The roof is typically hipped. The principal facade is orien-
ted to the north. It has an asymmetrical organization, with a two-story projecting bay
offset to the east side. The bay is marked at the first and second stories by a paneled

frieze under a bracketed cornice. The lower cornice is embellished with dentils and smal:
brackets; the upper cornice--a continuation of that which extends the circumference of
the house--consists of frieze panels decorated with scroll-saw work and console brackets
with incised motifs. The corners of the house are accentuated by pilasters with scal-
loped cut-out motifs in a mirror-image effect which is similar to detail on the John

M. Moyer House in Brownsville. Construction of the corner pilasters was as follows:
four 1 x 4" fir boards and four % x 4" fir boards were used. An identical pattern was
sawn into each of the % x 4" boards. These were nailed up in mirror-image fashion and
framed by the 1 x 4" boards cut out to reveal the scalloped pattern.

The westerly side of the principal facade contains the main entrance and a veranda.
The porch columns have decorative moldings,/andbrgﬁﬁ ts at the imposts,carry an entabla-
ture with a dentil course at the frieze. The railing of the porch deck was removed in
later years. The front door originally had panels of plate glass which have been re-
placed by a single pane. '

The east face of the house has a single-story polygenal bay, the detailing of which
is similar to that of the front bay. Above the bay is a pair of double-hung windows
contained in a single framement with hooded and pedimented architrave. Fenestration
is typically trabeated, and framements have elaborate moldings and scroll-sawn acroteria
used as central finials atop hooded lintels. The west face of the house is similarly
organized. A photograph believed to date from 1908 shows that the single-story bays on
either side of the house originally had elaborate wooden cresting, no longer extant.

In 1970 the west face was altered by the addition of a small porch which was patterned
after details of the front veranda. Its purpose is to shelter a new outside entrance

to the dining room created in place of a pair of windows. The new entrance is a double-
leaf door with transom.

(continued)
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Detalllng of the side portico was completed in 1970 using the north portico as the model
for construction.

The south wing of the house was altered in the 1970's to incorporate the original
woodshed and east porch into the living area of the house. It was constructed as a
single unit in the same style as the north wing., The original recessed porch once served
as an approach to the kitchen. This porch has since been enclosed, the enclosing wall a
load-bearing one. The fruit room, originally insulated with sawdust was converted into a
combination bath and laundry room. The east wall of the kitchen was removed in this re-
novation and the existing window was moved to the west side of the original woodshed loca-
tion. Four large double-glazed windows were installed in the south wall of the study and
sitting area. These were chosen for the view they allowed and for their thermal cualities
They were positioned in a way proportionate to the exterior details of the facade. The
two double hung windows removed from the dining room when the porch was built, are now
located in the east wall of the study and sitting area. They replace the small rectangu-
lar opening once used for throwing in firewood. The present stained glass window located
in the bath and laundry room replaced a badly deteriorated double hung window. This new
window was executed by the Flysian Stained Glass Window Company of Ashland, Oregon in 1969

! Sometime between 1911 and 1958 many of the cornice brackets of the south wing were -
removed. They were identical to the large ones under the cornice of the main wing. Durin
the renovation of the 1970's it was decided to change all of the brackets on the south
wing to a style as similar as possible to those of the main house since there were not
enough remaining to complete the job. This decision resulted in the unity of the one
storey south wing rather than a partially finished structure. The brackets were made by
Mr. Ben Fisher of Brownsville, Oregon. Their form was derived from the brackets on the
projecting bay.

The roof of the south wing is a single hip running north—south 'The roofing material
is also wood shingles.

The house stands on a foundation of sawn rectangular slabs of limestone that were
cuarried south of Brownsville. A 10" baseboard is finished at the bottom with a drip
moulding and above with a bullnose moulding. This continuous horizontal unit marks the
bottom of the lapped tongue-in-groove siding known locally as "v-rustic" siding. The
construction of the house is standard wood frame utilizing 2x6 stud walls. The house
has a truncated hip roof. The roofing material as of 1908 was wood shingles. There is
no evidence of a tower or other vertical element. There is an exposed beam attic that
can be reached from a crawl space in the north east bedroom upstairs. The crawl space
was once in the southeast bedroom but changed for easier access.

The house was painted completely white in 1959 for reasons of maintenance. From
1911 until 1958 no maintenance was done to the house and most of the earlier paint
weathered away. Residual paint on the north facade indicates that it was once painted
gray with a dark green and black trim.

INTERIOR ,

The interior of the house is based on a central hall plan with four main rooms.
The fireplace room is the best preserved in terms of original detailing with walnscotlng,
orifinal fir panelling and solid fir doors treated to resemble oak. The fireplace was
originally designed for coal, but the iron frame front grating had burned out away from .
the bricks. This ironwork was replaced by blue ceramic tiles. The fir bookcase with-
" flass doors located to the west of the flreplace and the small cupboard to the east of
the fireplace are orlglnal The fireplace in this room is the only one in the original
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construction. The house was equipped with two other flues; these were removed in 1970

remodelling for purposes of fire safety, convenience, and space. There were wood stoves
in the kitchen and living area. ' _

South of the fireplace room is a library/study that was originally a bedroom used
by Mrs. Amelia Brown, who was an invalid. The two rooms are separated by a pair of

__oripinal sliding double doors with combed wood grain detailing,

The living and dining areas are on the west side of the central hall; access is
gained by original sliding doors with transom windows above. In 1970 a ten-foot wide
archway was cut between these two rooms to increase a previously made opening done in
1930 to increase the feeling of spaciousness. Before 1930, there was no opening between
the two rooms. There is an original hinged window seat in the living room. Despite the
small scale of the house, only about 30'x35' in plan, the spatial character is open and
airy. This is emphasized by the 10'é" ceilings, large door and window openings, and the
open two storey central hallway. ‘

The second floor of the main house originally consisted of four bedrooms of almost
ecual size with 10' ceilings. In 1930 the south west bedroom was converted to a bathroom;
in 1970 it was remodelled.

‘ The staircase of the central hallway is a single run configuration of eighteen
‘risers. The curved bottom of the staircase ends with five winders and a curved handrail -
ending at a newel post. The railing of the staircase is similar to that of the Moyer house
The balusters are lathe-turned in a "candlestick" type configuration.

The interior finishing of the house of 1"x6" horizontal flush boards nailed to the
{studs and covered with canvas and wallpaper. All of the rooms had a 4"x6" baseboard.

The remodelling of the 1970's resulted in the discovery of what was probably the original
wallcovering.

The walls and ceilings not preserved were covered with sheetrock and wallpapered
at the time of the remodelling. Original metal and procelain hardware still exists on
the doors and windows. The original floors were strip-fir tongue-and-groove flooring.

Oak floors were overlaid onto the fir floors in the living room and fireplace room in
about 1920-30. All of the rooms besides the two bathrooms and kitchen have since been
overlaid with underlay and wall-to-wall carpeting.

The single storey south wing is connected to the central hall of the main house by
a wood frame sliding glass door, installed in 1970. A wooden swinging door with transom
above connects the kitchen with the dining room. This door was originally the wooden
sliding door off the central hallway. The kitchen has been outfitted with all modern
conveniences. The original fir floor was unsalvagable, so it was replaced by oak parcuet
[loorins. The bath and laundry room floor was also changed, the fir covered by vinyl tile.

A rarare was built in 1960 southeast of the house. Tt is constructed in a style
compatible with the rest of the house and painted white. There is a wooden gazebo
situated outside of the dining room. It was not part of the original Brown house but
was part of the portico of the H. D, Young house in Albany, Oregon. The Young house
was demolished but the portico was salvaged and reconstructively altered to form a gazebo.

From 1931 to 1958 the house was used for family living but was unmaintained and left
to deteriorate. In this instance it was a lucky occurrence for it meant that the
orifinal character of the house remained intact. The remodelling of the house from 1958 "
throuch the 1970's was concerned with preserving the original intent of the structure.

A minimum of visible changes was made to create a comfortable contemporary dwelling.
Cnetral heating (forced air) wiring, new plumbing, insulation, storm windows and function-
ing rfutters were installed or repaired as part of the practical changes made to ensure

the survival of the house.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The house of John and Amelia (Spaulding) Brown, descendents of the pioneer settlers
of Brownsville, was built in the Italian Villa Style in 1876 (or possibly a bit later).
The date of construction has been assigned on the basis of information in the property
title abstract and wills of estate. The house was the result of financial success of
John Brown, son of Hugh Leper Brown for whom Brownsville was named. It serves as an
indication of the greater wealth the second generation acquired through farming and
commerce. Similarities in carpentry of the Brown House and the John M. Moyer House
(1881) in Brownsville suggest a common carpenter-builder or source of mill work. The
Moyer House is entered in the National Register.

The typical qualities of the Italian Villa Style, of which the Brown House is a
well-preserved example, reveal an interest on the part of frontier settlers to follow
the current fashion. More importantly, the Brown House is the only house remaining whict
is associated with the founding family of the community. The south part of present-day
Brownsville was platted in 1853 by James Blakely, nephew of Hugh L. Brown, for whom the
plat was named. John Brown's wife, Amelia, was the daughter of the Reverend Henry Harmor
Spaulding, the American Board for Foreign Missions missionary who, following the Whitman
Massacre at Walla Walla in 1847, left the mission he founded at Lapwai in the Clearwater
country of the Nez Perce in 1836 and settled at Brownsville, taking up a claim adjoining
Hugh Brown's. The house which is the subject of this nomination occupies its original
site on the H. L. Brown donation land claim east of present-day Brownsville, and it
overlooks the Spaulding claim and the site of the school which Spaulding maintained.

One of the three townsites which eventually were amalgamated as Brownsville was named
for Spaulding's daughter. It bore her given name: Amelia.

After the present owners of the property acquired the house in 1958, some exterior
refurbishing was done with respect for the fabric and spirit of the design. Interior
modifications were made to accommodate contemporary living.

The farm property has ejoyed continuity of use. The ledges, or higher slopes of
the Willamette Valley were settled first because the bottom land along the river was
subject to flooding. The land east of Brownsville was well-drained, lying above the
south bank of the Calapooia River, a tributary of the Willamette. The Hugh L. Brown
donation land claim of 640 acres has since been subdivided, but the parcel accompanying
the house embraces 65 acres. The farm passed from the Browns to a native of Illinois
named Samuelson, whose family operated it from 1911 to 1958. The present owners make
use of the 65 acres for the historic purpose. The acquisition of access to irrigation
water from the Calapooia in the early 1960s resulted in the cultivation of pole beans.
Hay, cattle, and a conifer nursery have followed as regular output of the farm.
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